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______________________________________________________________________ X DOC #:
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12 Civ. 5914 (JMF)
_V_
OPINION AND ORDER

UBS SECURITIES, LLC and UBS AG

Defendants.

JESSE M. FURMAN, United States District Judge:

Plaintiff Trevor Murray brings this action against his former employBS Securities,
LLC andits parent companyBS AG (collectively*UBS”), pursuant to th&ecurities
Whistleblower Incentives and Protection provisions of the Diedahk Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act of 2010, 15 U.S.C. § 8gu)- the “Dodd+FrankAct” or the “Act”).
In his Gomplaint, Plaintiff alleges that UBS violated the whistleblower protection progisibn
theDodd-FrankAct because thedecision to terminate Plaintif employment was motivated, in
part, by his making disclosuresatrare protectely Section 806 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act (18
U.S.C. § 1514A).” (Compl. § 24). Defendants now miveismiss the Complaint in its
entirety pursuant téederalRule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) because Plaintiff did not allege that
he made report to the Sedties and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “the Commisgicarid
therefore is not a “whistleblowerinderthe Act (Docket No. 13). For the reasons stated below,
Defendantsmotion to disnss is DENIED.

BACKGROUND
On a motion to dismiss, a court may consider facts stated in the complaint, documents

attached to the complaint, and documents incorporated by reference into the corSglajr.g.
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Nechis v. Oxford Health Plans, Ind21 F.3d 96, 100 (2d Cir. 2005). Accordingly, the
following facts are taken from tl@@omplaint and from documents attached to and referenced
therein, and are assumed to be true for purposes of this m8&en.e.gLaFaro v. N.Y.
Cardiothoracic Grp., PLLC570 F.3d 471, 475 (2d Cir. 2009).

Defendant UB AG is a Switzerland corporation that conducts business in New York.
(Conmpl. 1 6). UBS AG is required to file reports with tARECunder Section 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 780(®“1934 Act”), and it has alass of
searities that must be registered pursuant to Section i#d034 Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78L.Id)).
Defendant UBS Securitidd C, a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiatyB$
AG, isregistered witlthe SEC as a brokedealerand has a class securities thamust be
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the 1934 Act, 15 U.S.C. 8Id8f] 1. From May 2011
until February 201 2Rlaintiff worked for UBS as a Senior Commercial Mortg&geked
Security (CMBS”) Strategist. If. 115, 11. In this capacity, & was responsible for performing
research and creag reports about UBSGMBS produts that were distributed to UBS’
current and potential clientsld( f 12). According to the Complaint, Plaintiff received nothing
but positiveperformancereviewsduring his tenure in this positionid().

In his ComplaintPlaintiff alleges that UBS engaged in a “concerted, extended effort”
“influence[him] to skew his published research in ways designed to support UBS Securities’
ongoing CMBS tading and loan origination activitiés(ld.  13. In particular, he Complaint
avers thaken Cohenwho was in charge of UBS Securities’ CMBS trading and commercial
mortgage originationded effortsto pressure Plaintiff toraft his reports to be “ore favorablé
to UBS and to protect UBSexposure. The Complaint describes a number of encounters
between Plaintiff and UBS personméth responsibility for CMBS &dingwho allegedly told
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Plaintiff that they“disagreed with [his] researthnstructedhim “not to publish anything
negative,” and to “write what the business line waritétd. 1 1416, 20).

Plaintiff believed that he was being pressured by his supervisors to prodpoequly
objective research reports about security products that were false @mdmgl and intended to
favor UBS'’s products and trading positions, in violation of federal lavds.{ (L9). Plaintiff
repeatedlytold his superiors at UBS about these attempts to influence his published research.
(Id. § 18). Specitially, the Complaint alleggbat inDecember 2011 and January 2012, Plaintiff
told his manager, Mike Schumacher, about these efforts to influence his resedudmagn
Cohensremarks that Plainti® published articles werdgdo bearishand were “offmessage”
with the strategy of the CMBS trading desk and overall commengaigagegroup. (d.). In
January 2012, Plaintiff told Jeff Ho, a Managing Director at UBS, that Cohen onlyciete
with Plaintiff in orderto criticize his research and attetntgp manipulate hiseports. (Id.). After
his January 2012 performance reviéyrraytold Schumacheiat he had been given lirad
resources to perform his researSichumacher replied that he was aware of those limitations and
thatMurray should write “what the business line wantedgspective of the resources available.
(Id. 1 20). On February 6, 2012, Plaintiff was fired from his position at UB&. { 22).

DISCUSSION

As noted, Plaintifbrings this suit pursuant to the Securities Whisthklolncentives
and Protection provisions of the Do#fdank Act. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants
violated Section 78u-6(h)(@) of the Act which provideghat

[nJo employer may discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, directly or

indirectly, or in any other manner discriminate against, a whistleblower in the

terms and conditions of employment because of any lawful act done by the
whistleblower—



) in providing information to the Commission in accordance with this
section;

(i) in initiating, testifying in, or assisting in any investigation or judicial or
administrative action of the Commission based upon or related to such
information; or

(i) in making disclosures that are required or protected under the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (15 U.S.C. 72@% seq), the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78at seq), including section 10A(m) of such Act (15
U.S.C. 78f(m)), section 1513(e) of Title 18, and any other law, rule, or
regulation subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission.

15 U.S.C. 8§ 786(h)(1)(A), see id.8 78u-6(h)(1)(B)(i) (providing a private right of action for an
individual “who alleges discharge or other discrimination in violation of subpaiagrg”).

At first glance, Plaintiff's claim would appear to fall squarely within the termsisf th
provision After all, theSarbanexley Act protects individuals who disclose information that
they reasonably believe constitutes a violation of SEC rules or regulatioes the information
is provided to, among others, “a person with supervisory authority over the employert{or s
other person working for the employer who has the authority to investigate, djsmove
terminate misconduct).18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a)(1)(C)And here, Plaintiff alleges that
Defendantdired him inretaliation for doing just that that is, for complaining to his
supervisorghat he wabeing pressured to produtadse and misleadingesearch reporabout
UBS’s securities products in violation tife SEC rules or regulations. (Compl. 11 13-15, 20).

By its terms however, Section 786ith)(1)(A) prohibits an employer from taking the
prescribed actions againstwahistleblower.” And, as Defendants point out, the Dé&dark Act
defines‘whistleblower” in relevant part, as “any individual who prdes. . . information

relating to a violation of the securities latesthe Commissignn a manner established, by rule

or regulation, by the Commission.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(a)(6) (emphasis added). Relyirgy on thi



provision, Defendants contend that Section 88u{1)(A) applies exclusivelyo someone who
provided information to the SEC, a category that would appear to exclude Péartdf
provided information only to UBS supervisors. (Defs.” Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Dismiss 2).
Plaintiff, by contrastargues that Section 78u-6(h)(1)(A)(iii) establishes a narrow exception to
Section78u-6(a)(6)’s definition of “whistleblower,” and protects employee who makesy of
that provision’s enumerated disclosures, including disclosureartfaequired or pratcted
under the Sarbané3xley Act” (Pl.’'s Mem. Law Opp’n Mot. Dismiss 2).

Significantly,in assessing who is right, the Court does not writa blank slate First,
four otherdistrict courtjudges have confronted th exactissug and each one hanhdorsed
Plaintiff's reading of the statutéSeeGenberg v. PorterNo. 11 Civ. 2434 (WYD) (MEH), 2013
WL 1222056, at *10 (D. Colo. Mar. 25, 201Bramer v. Trans-lux CorpNo. 11 Civ. 1424
(SRU), 2012 WL 4444820, at *3-5 (D. Conn. Sept. 25, 2048)ner v. S. Baptist Convention,
Inc., 852 F. Supp. 2d 986, 993-95 (M.D. Tenn. 20Eg&an v. Tradingscreen, IndNo. 10 Civ.
8202 (LBS), 2011 WL 1672066, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. May 4, 20113econd, on August 12, 2011,
the SEGC— to whom Congress delegated authority to administer the whistleblower provisions of
Dodd-Frankseel5 U.S.C. § 786(i) — promulgated a final ruleegardingherelationship
betweerSection 786 (h)(1)(A), the anti-retaliation provision, and Section 7a)(6) the
provision definind'w histleblower” The SEC'’s rulgrovides

(b) Prohibition against retaliation:

! The parties dispute whether the relevant analyses in these decisiditsaardCompare

Defs.” Mem Law Supp. Mot. Dismiss 2, 5-With Pl.’'s Mem. Law Opp’n MotDismiss 1214).

The Court need not resolve that dispute, however, as the decisions are not binding on this Court
regardless of whether the relevant analyses are dicta. In any event, evtx thd relevant

analyses are certainlyell-consideredlicta.



(1) For purposes of the anti-retaliation protections afforded by Section 21F(h)(1)
of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 7&(k)(1)), you are a whistleblower if:

@ You possess a reasonable belief that the information you are
providing relates to a possible securities law violation (or, where
applicable, to a possible violation of the provisions set forth in 18
U.S.C. 1514A(a)) that has occurred, is ongoing, or is about to
occur, and;

(i) You provide that information in a manner described in Section
21F(h)(1)(A) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78(1(1)(A)).

(i)  The antiretaliation protections apply whether or not you satisfy
the requirements, procedures and conditions to qualify for an
award.

17 C.F.R. 8§ 240.21B¢b)(1). In its comments to the rule¢he SECexplainedfurtherthat “[t]he
second prong of the Rule 21F-2(b)(1) standard provides that, for purposes of tieéasiation
protections, an individual must provide the information in a manner described in Section
21F(h)(1)(A). This change to the rule reflects the fact that the statuttmetaliation
protections apply to three different categories of whistleblovaeid the third category includes
individuals who report to persons or governmental authorities other than the Commniission
SEC Securities Whistleblower Incentives and Protections, 76 Fed. Reg. 34300-01, at *34304,
2011 WL 2293084 (2011) Comments to Final Rule(emphasis added$ee also id(noting
thatSection21F(h)(1)(A)(iii)'s incorporation of Section 806 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act
“provides anti-retaliation protections for employees of public companies, . . . when thes
employees report to (i) [a] Federal regulatory or law enforcement ageéhany(membeof
Congress or committee of Congress, or (iii) a person with supervisory &uthaat the

employee or such other person working for the employer who has authority tigatess

discover, or terminate miscondugt”



On the SEC'’s view of the Act, therefore, the astaliation provision’s protections
extend to those who make disclosures that are protected under the S@klageset, whether
or not the disclosures were made to the SEC itself. The question thus arises \WheBiE«E's
interpretationwarrants deference undgre familiar twestep inquiry ofChevron U.S.A. Inc. v.
Natural Resources Defense Council, J@67 U.S. 837 (1984). At step one of that inquiry, the
Court must ask “whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise questan.dt ike
intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the court, as talagency, must
give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congréssat 842-43. If, howevelthe
statute is silent or ambiguous with respto the specific issuettie Courtfproceed to step two,
asking “whether the agency’s answer is based on a permissible constructionatuties’ 3d. at
843. A court may not deféo an interpretation that iafbitrary, capricious, or mamitly
contrary to the statute.Kar Onn Lee v. Holder701 F.3d 931, 936 (2d Cir. 2012) (internal
guotation marks omitted). But “[i]f the agency interpretation is reasonableatlvenrtmust
defer to it.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).his framework ‘is rooted in a background
presumption of congressional intéand “provides a stable background rule against which
Congress can legislate: Statutory ambiguities will be resolved, withivotlveds of reasonable
interpretation, not by the courts bat the administering agen€yCity of Arlington, Tex. v.
FCC, No. 11-1545, — S. Ct. —, 2013 WL 2149789, slip op. dviay 20 2013).

Applying this analysis here, the Court concludes that deference to the SEC’s rule is
warranted.In assessing whethestatute is ambiguote the first stepa courtmust “employ]
traditional tools of statutory constructidrGhevron 467 U.S. at 842, 843 n.9, which calls for
considering statutory language in context. That [§,H& plainness or ambiguity of statutory
language is determined by reference to the language itself, the speciixteonthich that
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language is used, and the broader context of the statute as a’wkaigilio v. City of N.Y, 407
F.3d 105, 112 (2d Cir. 200%lteration in original{quaing Robinsorv. Shell Oil Ca.519 U.S.
337, 341 (1997)). Words should be given their “ordinary seiNsgyiral Res. Def. Council, Inc.
v. Muszynski268 F.3d 91, 98 (2d Cir. 2001), and “the meaning of statutory language, plain or
not, depends on contekBailey v. United State$16 U.S. 137, 145 (1995) (internal quotation
marks and alteratioomitted);see also Muszynsk68 F.3d at 98 [W] hen determining which
reasonable meaning should prevail, the text should be placed in the contex¢mtittstatutory
structure.”).

Here, the ambiguity arises from tte:sion between Section 78(a)(6), which limits the
definition of “whistleblower” to one who makes a disclosure to the SEC, and Section 78u-
6(h)(1)(A)(ii), which contemplatea broader scopd protection. Defendants proffer one way
of reconcilingthe twoprovisions, pursuant to which Section &a)(6) identifiesvhois
protected, while Section 7&(h)(1)(A)(iii)) identifieswhatthey are protectefbr doing (Defs.’
Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Dimiss 89; Defs.” Supp. Mem. Law 2). That is, according to
Defendants, the protections of Section 78u-6(h)(1)(A) come into play only giées@n reports
information to the SEC, at which point that person is protected from retaliation nobotig f
report to the SEC, budlsofor “other steps such a ‘whistleblower’ might take to further
compliance with the law.” (Defs.” Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Dismiss 9).

No doubt this reading of thevo statutory provisions is permissible, agEgan Nollner,
Kramer, andGenbergmake clearit is by no means mandatory. Instead, as Judge Sand
explained inEgan Section 786(h)(1)(A)(iii)) may also be viewed “as a narrow exception to
[Section]78u—6(a)(6)’s definition of a whistleblower as one who reports to the SEC.” 2011 WL
1672066, at *5. On this view of the two provisions, to state a claim under Section 78u-
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6(h)(1)(A), a plaintiff ‘musteitherallege that his information was reported to the S&@hat
his disclosures fell under the four categories of disclestueéneated by [Section]
78u-6(h)(1)(A)(iii) that do not require such reporting: those under the SarBeitegAct, the
Securities Exchange Act, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1513(e), or other laws and regulations subject to t
jurisdiction of the SEC."Id. (emphasis @led).

The existence of theseompeting, plausible interpretations” of the statutory provisions
compes the conclusion that “the statutory text is ambiguous in conveying Congresats’int
Cohen v. JP Morgan Chase & Cd98 F.3d 111, 120 (2d Cir. 20Q8%ee, e.g.PDK Labs. Inc. v.
U.S. DEA 362 F.3d 786, 796 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (explaining that simply because a statute “is
susceptible of one construction does not render its meaning plain if it is also susadptibl
another, plausible construction¥eealso, e.g.Kramer, 2012 WL 4444820, at *4 (concluding
that it is“not . . . unambiguously clear that the Dodd-Frank Act’s retaliation provision only
applies to those individuals who have provided information relating to a securitidgonidta
the Commission, and have done so in a maastblished by the Commissipn|t also
compels the conclusion, at step two of @leevroninquiry, that the SEC’s interpretationas
reasonable one. After allsitule is consistent with the interpretatmfrthe statutory provisions
put forthby Egan Nollner, Kramer, andGenberg thatSection 78us(h)(1)(A)(iii) provides a
narrow exeption to Section 78u-6(a)(6)’s definition of a whistleblower as one who repadnts to t
SEC, and protects internal disclosures et by the Sarban&3xley Actand the 1934 Act.

This interpretation comports with a cardinal principle of statutory constructimath
“statute ought, upon the whole, to be so construed that, if it can be prevented, no clause,
sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificaPRW Inc. v. Andrew$34 U.S.
19, 31 (2001)internal quotation mark omitted)As the Court ireganexplained, Defendants’
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preferred‘reading of the definition of the term ‘whistleblower’ in 15 U.S.C. 8§ Bga}p) . . .
would effectively invalidate § 78u-6(h)(1)(A)(iii)’s protection of whistleblowigsclosures that
do not require reporting to the SECEgan 2011 WL 1672066, at *4ee also Nollner852 F.
Supp. 2d at 994 (explaining that under “traditional principles of statutory constructioogtitte
“must read part (iii) of the antietaliation provisions in conjunction with the definition of
whistleblower”).

Defendants claim that this interpretation “disrupt[s] the careftdiystructed anti-
retaliation pogram established by Sarbat@sley,” by providing a longer statute of limitations
and providing “more generous” protections that Congress intended. (Defs.” MenSupgow
Mot. Dismiss 910). But as the Court explainedKiinamer, considering theangresional intent
to expand on the protections of Sarba@eatey, “the claimed [statute of limitations] problem is
no problem at all.”"Kramer, 2012 WL 4444820, at *5. Relying on D.C. Circuit precedent,
Defendants alsargue that the Court should not defethte SEC’s interpretation because
Chevrondeference is appropriately when an agency recognizes that Congress’s intent is not
plain from the statute’s face. (Defs.” Reply Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Dismiss(8iiriy, inter
alia, Peter Pan Bus Lines, Inc. v. Fed. Motor Carrier Safety Admifil F.3d 1350, 1354 (D.C.
Cir. 2006);Arizona v. Thompsor281 F.3d 248, 254 (D.C. Cir. 2002)plere, Defendants argue,
the SECdid not purporto resolve a statutory ambiguity, but rather believed there was a “clear
statutory command” that “Dod&+ank’s antiretaliatory provision ‘expressly protect[ts] internal
whistleblowing.” (d. (QuotingSecurities and Exchange Commission, Securities Whistleblower
Incentives and Protections, 76 Fed. Reg. 34300, at *34304 n. 38 (June 13).2011))

The Second Circuit has not yet addressed the question of whether deferenge is “onl
appropriate when the agency has exerciseantgudgment, not when it believes that [its]
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interpretation is compelled by Congres3hompson281 F.3d at 254 (internal quotation mark
omitted. In the circumstances of this case, however,Gourineednot reachtheissue as the
SECdid purport to resolve a statutory ambiguitynamely, the interplapetweernSection 78u-
6(h)(1)(A), the antiretaliation povision, and Section 786a)(6) the provision defining
“whistleblower” To be surethe SEC explained that “in a few limited situations . . . internal
reporting isexpressly protectet.Comments td-inal Rule, 2011 WL 2293084, at *34304 n.38.
But that does not mean that the SEC considered the statute unambiguous. As the D.C. Circuit
recently held, “it would be a stretch, to say the least, to hold that [an ageneyts]the word
‘clear demonstrates that the agency meant to suggest that its oegidétrpretation was
‘compelled by Congress.”Ass’n of Private Sector Coll. and Univs. v. Duncé8l F.3d 427,
445 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (quotinBeter Pan471 F.3cat1354) The same logic applies to the
SEC'’s use of the word “expressly” here.

Moreover, it is apparent that the SEC considered the policy issues involvedesicded
judgment in formulating its final ruleAs theEganCourt noted, the SEC’s proposed regulation,
introduced on November 3, 2010, focused only on the bounty award proo$ibesAct
(pursuant to which whistleblowevgho repat violations of the securities laws to t8&C may
receive portions of any money recovered bySE€)rather than the antetaliatory provisions
at issue in this case&seeProposed Rules for Implementing the Whistleblower Provisions of
Section 21F of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 75 Fed. Reg. 70488 (proposed Nov. 17,
2010) (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. pts. 240, 24é¥ also Egar2011 WL 1672066, at *8
(finding that no deference was owed to the SEC'’s interpretation of Biaddk because the
“agency here has not spoken on the precise question involved in this case” and instead only
interpreted the Act’s bounty award provisions). After receiving comments proposed rule,
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the SEC promugated its final rule. In the comments to that rulexplained: “[W]e have

carefully considered the comments received on the proposed rules in fashioninglthdds

we adopt today. We have made a number of revisions and refinements to the proposed rules.
Taken together, we believe these changes will better achieve the goals of tbeystatut
whistleblower program and advance effective enforcement of the Federal esdavis.”
Comments td-inal Rule, 2011 WL 2293084, at *34300.

More specificdly, the SEC explainethat between the proposed rule and the final rule, it
had “modified proposed Rule 21F-2(b)’s anti-retaliation protections, which are now i2 Rule
2(b)(1) . ... The second prong of the Rule 21F-2(b)(1) standard provides that, for purposes of
the antiretaliation protections, an individual must provide the information in a mannerkbebscri
in Section 21F(h)(1)(A). This change to the rule reflects the fact thatatiuéosy antiretaliation
protections apply to three different categories of whistleblowers, and tedtegory includes
individuals who report to persons or governmental authorities other than the Commissian.”
*34303-04. Accordinglywhile the proposedule did not speak to the “question at issue” here,
seeEgan 2011 WL 1672066, at *8, tHeal rule did, offering an interpretation of Sections 78u-
6(h)(1)(A) and 78u-6(a)(6) under which imef disclosures are protectedut simply, i is
unlikely that the SEC would have made these “revisions and refinements to the profesed r
if it believed that this interpretatn was “compelled by Congress.”

In short, lecause the SEC'’s rule clarifias ambiguoustatutory scheme the SEC was
chaged with enforcing and reflectise considerable experience and expertise that the agency has
acquired over time with respectitderpretation and enforcemeuitthe securities laws, this
Court defers to the SEC'’s interpretation. Under its rule, theetadiation whistleblower
protection provisions of Dodd-Frank requiRrintiff to show that he eithg@rovided information
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to the SEQor that his disclosures fell under the four categories list&eation78u-
6(h)(1)(A)(ii)). As Plaintiff hasindisputablyalleged that Defendants’ decision to terminate him
was motivated, in part, by his making disclosures that are protected bynS2@si of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act, 18 U.S.C. § 151d@2Zompl. § 24) he has plausiblgtated a claim under
Section 78W6(h)(1)(A)(iii).
CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth above, Defendants’ mebdi@iismiss(Docket No. 13)s

DENIED. The Clerk of Court is directed to terminate the aforementioned motion.

SO ORDERED.

Dated:May 21, 2013
New York, New York JESSE KT FURMAN

United States District Judge
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